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CHAPTER ONE


INTRODUCTION





The office of Prime Minister is a group enterprise. It is both a position a single politician fills and an institution with staff. Individual holders of the title are famous at home and on the world stage as leaders of the British government. Some of their aides may at times achieve a degree of public awareness – or notoriety – but never on the scale of the person they serve. Most aides are largely unknown but British prime ministers could not function without them. The people who work for the premiership are an important subject of study in their own right, and as a way of understanding the institution to which they are attached.


Aides help premiers decide what to do and try to ensure it is done. They help manage relations with ministers, the civil service machine, the media, Parliament, political parties, and various other individuals and groups. They might be impartial permanent officials, required to serve successive prime ministers regardless of political complexion. They might be attached to particular premiers who have appointed them to support their personal objectives. Some are MPs or peers holding ministerial offices. Aides might have an official role or work in a more informal capacity. They may work within government attached specifically to the Prime Minister or provide support while performing other duties. Often they are based at the famous 10 Downing Street building but they may work out of offices elsewhere. The common thread is they are part of the team upon which the premier depends. They work close to the leading figure within government, deriving importance from being at power’s elbow.


David Cameron


All the work that aides do, the problems they encounter, the successes they achieve, the teams they operate within, have a past – that which has gone before shapes their present environment. A consideration of present arrangements at No. 10 helps illustrate the point. During his period as Leader of the Opposition between 2005 and 2010, Cameron and his Conservative team thought much about what they wanted to do if and when they formed a government, but they gave less consideration to the support Cameron would receive as Prime Minister in order to achieve their goals. Cameron had first-hand experience of how Whitehall worked from his time as a special adviser to Norman Lamont as Chancellor of the Exchequer and Michael Howard as Home Secretary during the John Major governments of the 1990s. He could have drawn on this experience to help him put schemes in hand. He did not.


Not all those seeking to become prime ministers have been as reluctant as Cameron to think in advance about administrative structures and processes. Harold Wilson, who first became premier in 1964, provides a contrast. Like Cameron, Wilson had previous experience as a temporary civil servant – his came during the Second World War (and subsequently Wilson served as a Cabinet minister under Clement Attlee). Also, like Cameron, he led his party into power after it had endured three successive general election defeats and thirteen years of opposition. To achieve the changes he wanted, Wilson entered office with firm ideas about how to restructure the prime-ministerial team, and the positions his existing team members would fill. He set out to rebalance power at No. 10, away from the permanent civil servants who predominated within it and towards his party-political appointments. This move ensured he obtained the policy advice he wanted. Similarly Edward Heath, who ousted Wilson from power in 1970, had commissioned a wide-ranging review which included in it a reshaping of the institutions that would support him.


Cameron made no such plans. Why? First he is not greatly interested in the details of administration. Prime ministers may become closely engaged in how their offices function and their day-to-day work, indeed, William Gladstone was obsessive about such processes. But Cameron prefers to choose people he wants and let them work things out between them. This hands-off approach is a characteristic Cameron shares with Gladstone’s great rival Benjamin Disraeli, who delegated much work to his private secretary Montagu Corry. A second reason Cameron did not make extensive preparations for a prime-ministerial support team was he wanted to distinguish his premiership from those of his immediate predecessors. During the Labour period of office from 1997, a narrative developed that No. 10 aides, often drawn from outside the career civil service, were playing too prominent a role in government, to the detriment of the Cabinet’s influence. Had Cameron come to power and immediately implemented a clearly defined set of new arrangements, he might have looked to be exercising the same ‘presidential’ approach. A stigma similar to that associated with No. 10 under New Labour had attached itself to David Lloyd George during his 1916–22 tenure of Downing Street, and the two Conservative prime ministers who followed him, Andrew Bonar Law and Stanley Baldwin, made a point of being seen not to replicate his structures or methods.


A third reason Cameron did not give forethought to the organisation of his prime-ministerial team was a simple reluctance to assume the Conservatives were going to win the coming general election. He did not want anyone ‘measuring up the curtains’ at No. 10, even though Conservative poll ratings were often favourable during his period as opposition leader. If Cameron’s staff started talking about possible arrangements in power, he told them to stop. In the event his apprehension about whether the Conservatives could win turned out to be justified. In May 2010 the Conservatives became the largest party in the House of Commons but did not secure a majority of seats. The resulting coalition government with Nick Clegg, leader of the Liberal Democrats and now Deputy Prime Minister, had substantial implications for the Prime Minister’s deployment of his staff.


From the outset, Cameron and Clegg were determined to work closely to ensure their government overcame any divisions between the two parties comprising it and that it lasted a five-year term. Out of this desire emerged the concept that No. 10 was, to some extent, a shared resource. The building had been a base for premiers (although with various interruptions) since 1735 when Robert Walpole, commonly regarded as the first Prime Minister, moved in. Now, in the interests of coalition unity, it was to house support structures for both the premier and a deputy of another party. Some staff served both of them, others Cameron and others Clegg, who had by late 2012 appointed five special advisers classed as his ‘No. 10 Advisers’ (Cameron had twenty).


A combination of Cameron’s unreadiness and the advent of a coalition became problematic in one area. Initially he had few policy advisers available. If he had deployed a larger team of aides covering the whole field of government, he might have been better placed to deal sooner with early problems such as the privatisation of forests and a major overhaul of the National Health Service. Margaret Thatcher had been in a similar position when she became Prime Minister in 1979. Seeking to distance herself from her Labour predecessors, she substantially reduced the size of the Policy Unit that Wilson had established in 1974 and James Callaghan had retained. Over time, however, she found this personal source of advice useful in efforts to impose her will upon government. In the 1980s it grew to a size similar to that of the 1970s.


Cameron soon realised he needed more policy support, but he had a problem. How would such an expansion be reconciled with the principle of collaboration with Clegg? Options discussed included having two different policy units, one of Conservatives, the other of Liberal Democrats. Another possibility was to include these two groups together in a single body. Both scenarios could prove divisive. Ultimately Cameron and Clegg agreed on establishing one team answering to the Prime Minister and Deputy Prime Minister simultaneously, which would be composed wholly of impartial career civil servants. In March 2011, Paul Kirby became head of Policy Development and joint head with Kristina Murrin of a newly formed Policy and Implementation Unit, with about eight staff.


This arrangement was a break with recent practice in two ways. Since it was established in 1974 the Policy Unit had directly supported only the Prime Minister and no other member of the government, and it had always been composed mainly or wholly of special advisers who had been appointed on the Prime Minister’s personal patronage. Consequently, special advisers had a direct connection with the Prime Minister of the day. They were often supporters of the party of government and subject to rules allowing them to pursue certain partisan objectives. A policy body that excluded such appointments promised to be of a different character. This change, on the surface at least, represented an extension (or revival) of the role of the career civil service, the permanent machine that continues regardless of election outcomes or changes in ministerial offices. Since the 1960s an expansion of special advisers and other outsiders in the premier’s support staff had challenged the position of these impartial officials. Developments in the Cameron period represented a significant reversal of that trend. It should be noted, however, that individuals employed as permanent officials in No. 10 were not all from regular civil service backgrounds. Kirby, for instance, was from the accountancy firm KPMG (for whom he had co-authored a paper on extending payment by results for Whitehall staff). Nonetheless, they were employed as impartial staff.


Did the existence of a coalition really dictate that the Prime Minister had to arrive at these particular arrangements for policy support? As war leaders, David Lloyd George and Winston Churchill established prime-ministerial support staffs which were precursors of the Policy Unit and the Policy and Implementation Unit of today. Lloyd George had a Prime Minister’s secretariat, or ‘Garden Suburb’; Churchill a Statistical Section. Both of these prime ministers led coalition governments. But the new bodies of staff they formed supported them alone and they recruited aides from outside the administrative machine, similar to the special advisers of contemporary government. In eschewing the Lloyd George and Churchill approaches, Cameron seems to have created some problems. It is not easy for policy aides to support two different chiefs, whose parties are often visibly in conflict. Furthermore, party political staff who openly share the orientation of the Prime Minister are useful.


By 2013, Cameron was seeking to obtain a more clearly partisan dimension to his team. Kirby left and Cameron made two ministerial appointments in the Cabinet Office, the first of whom was John Hayes, who became Minister without Portfolio at the end of March. His role was to act as a link with backbench Conservative MPs who were proving troublesome. The second recruit to the Cabinet Office, a month later, was Jo Johnson, younger brother of the London Mayor, Boris. He held the post of unpaid Parliamentary Secretary (in addition to his existing post as an assistant whip). The press release announcing this news stated that he would ‘head the Downing Street Policy Unit’. Like a number of Cameron aides, Johnson was an Old Etonian; this trend provoked criticisms that Cameron was drawing on too narrow a social base.


Who have been the key players in the Cameron set-up? Prime ministers often like to have friendly faces around them when they come to the post and some joined him when in opposition. After becoming premier for the first time in 1783, William Pitt the Younger recruited as his private secretary his former Cambridge tutor, George Pretyman. Churchill placed a premium on familiarity and went to great lengths to secure it. As Leader of the Opposition the two most important Cameron aides were Steve Hilton and Andy Coulson. Both accompanied their chief into No. 10.


Steve Hilton


Hilton had worked with Cameron at Conservative Party Central Office on the successful general election campaign of 1992. He worked at the Saatchi & Saatchi advertising agency and then set up his own agency, helping corporations detoxify their images. After Cameron became Conservative leader, Hilton helped him in the attempt to perform a similar decontamination service for the party. Before Tony Blair took office in May 1997, staff around him had helped with a similar operation.


As Cameron’s Director of Strategy at No. 10, Hilton acquired a reputation for eccentric behaviour, dressing down and walking around without shoes, and sometimes behaving rudely. One of his major contributions to the Cameron policy platform was the agenda that came to be known as the ‘Big Society’, which partly involved engaging the public in the delivery of public services. This emblem of the Cameron premiership met with considerable resistance within Whitehall. Hilton’s other proposals included radical measures aimed at stimulating growth, such as abolishing maternity leave. He pursued ways of reducing regulation and the official application of economic ‘nudge’ theory to achieve socially desirable behaviour. Gus O’Donnell, Cabinet Secretary and head of the home civil service 2005–11, subsequently said it was not possible to implement some of Hilton’s ideas because they would have been illegal. Hilton’s view that the Whitehall bureaucracy was more powerful than ministers soon found its way into the public domain.


Some of Hilton’s qualities can be detected in a number of earlier aides. Edmund Gibson, Bishop of London, used his informal position as an assistant to Robert Walpole to pursue plans for far-reaching changes in the organisation and values of the Anglican Church. Working out of an office on the site of the current Cabinet Office, Gibson made enemies along the way and acquired the nickname ‘Walpole’s Pope’. Both Frederick Lindemann (Lord Cherwell) for Churchill and Thomas Balogh for Wilson were outside imports to Downing Street, possessed of difficult personalities. They put forward policies some regarded as outlandish and often found themselves in conflict with the Whitehall machine. In his role as a strategist for Cameron, Hilton had other precursors. Aides, such as the historian Lord Acton for Gladstone, helped prime ministers develop their broad ideological outlook. John Hoskyns, who eventually became Thatcher’s first Policy Unit head, pressed on her the need for systematic, integrated policy. Like Hilton after him and Balogh before him, Hoskyns came to see the bureaucratic machine as a barrier to necessary reform. The problem faced by such aides is they are dependent upon the same administrative institution they denigrate to achieve what they want. A tension Hilton shared with Thatcher’s adviser Derek Rayner was seeing his purpose as eliminating unnecessary rules and tiers of administrative machinery, though his very presence in Whitehall only added to the overall bureaucracy.


Andy Coulson


When he became the first Prime Minister, Walpole deployed a team of assistants to promote him in the media. They proved effective but became the subject of negative coverage themselves. Subsequent premiers have had similar experiences. Coulson came from a background in tabloid journalism, something that aligns him with Joe Haines for Wilson and Alastair Campbell for Blair. But unlike these two media aides Coulson had not been a political writer. His CV included being editor of the ‘Bizarre’ show business column in The Sun from 1994 to 1998, before becoming editor of the News of the World. In January 2007 he resigned from this post following the prosecution of its former royal editor for phone-hacking, not on the grounds that he was involved but because these actions had taken place on his watch. George Osborne, Cameron’s most important ally, who became Chancellor of the Exchequer in 2010, was the chief advocate of recruiting Coulson as Conservative Director of Communications and Planning in July 2007. Coulson served as Chief Press Secretary at No. 10 from May 2010 until January 2011 but was forced to resign amid mounting press interest in his role in the phone-hacking scandal. The police subsequently charged him over alleged payments to public officials and for perjury.


The accusations against Coulson included that he had paid for the ‘Green Book’ which contained contact details for the royal household and that when giving evidence during the perjury trial of the former Scottish Socialist Member of the Scottish Parliament, Tommy Sheridan, Coulson had himself answered untruthfully when denying knowledge of or involvement in phone-hacking or other illegal activities. The latter claims related to a time when he was working at No. 10. These allegations arose from a set of police investigations with a far wider scope. Among the many media industry figures and public employees who were embroiled, Rebekah Brooks, formerly the chief executive of News International, the group which owned News of the World, was another with close links to the Prime Minister. A trial date in September 2013 was set for Coulson, Brooks and others for offences including conspiracy to commit misconduct in public office and conspiracy to unlawfully intercept communications. But Coulson was by no means the first prime-ministerial aide to attract allegations of wrongdoing. Francis Bonham, a political aide to Robert Peel in the 1830s and 40s, resigned his official post after the exposure of his inappropriate involvement in the award of railway contracts. Maundy Gregory was an informal patronage-broker for prime ministers including David Lloyd George. He became in 1933 the only individual ever successfully prosecuted for the sale of honours. But Coulson was potentially the most controversial of all.


The precise reasons for Coulson’s initial recruitment have been a subject of interest and figured in attempts to unpick the relationship between the Conservatives under Cameron and Rupert Murdoch’s media-empire. Not long before Coulson joined Cameron, the News of the World had run on its front page a story about Osborne, Coulson’s main sponsor, with the title TOP TORY, COKE AND THE HOOKER. The presence of particular aides in prime-ministerial circles has caused puzzlement in the past. Ronald Waterhouse was a private secretary to Law, Baldwin and MacDonald – in some ways the prototypical permanent Principal Private Secretary. Yet his administrative abilities were apparently negligible. His contacts with the intelligence world and the royal family seemed of greater value to his prime ministers. The willingness of Wilson to tolerate the behaviour of his Political Secretary, Marcia Williams, has been another subject of speculation. Her explosive personality could cause chaos within his team and make his life difficult, yet for some reason he was unable or unwilling to do without her.


In opposition Coulson gave priority to organising the most professional media operation possible, with a view to winning the election. He supported both Cameron and the shadow Cabinet and, although once in office he assumed a cross-governmental function, his central concern was No. 10. He normally saw Cameron every day. A key challenge for Coulson was ensuring that, in accordance with Cameron’s desired approach to the premiership, while departments were able to operate with a degree of autonomy, overall presentation, that is the public representation of the government, was coherent. Within No. 10, Coulson coordinated special advisers of both parties; he worked with career officials, but did not have management responsibilities over them. In this respect Coulson differed from Campbell, Blair’s media aide, who was – like Blair’s Chief of Staff, Jonathan Powell – integrated into the Whitehall hierarchy in 1997, while being a special adviser. Coulson even went on to identify his own replacement, Craig Oliver a BBC news editor.


Cameron’s aides – outsiders


In spring 2012 Hilton announced he was leaving No. 10 for a sabbatical. By this time Coulson had left, as had James O’Shaunnessy, Cameron’s Director of Policy in opposition and government. Cameron, perhaps sooner than he hoped, faced the challenge of replacing staff whose special personal link to him was difficult to replicate. Cameron had managed to bolster his team early in 2011 when Andrew Cooper, the founder of the Populus polling company, became Director of Political Strategy. As a polling expert who had participated in the campaign to ‘modernise’ a political party, Cooper was similar to Philip Gould for Blair, though Gould never held a formal post at No. 10, and as a former member of the Social Democrat Party (SDP), Cooper shared his background with a number of others who assisted Blair: Andrew Adonis, Roger Liddle and Derek Scott. Just as an ex-SDP presence in No. 10 under Blair caused raised eyebrows in the Labour Party, so it did within the Conservatives under Cameron.


Ed Llewellyn, another special adviser brought in from opposition, is currently Cameron’s Chief of Staff. His job title has long antecedents. It existed – though perhaps only colloquially – in the time of William Gladstone in the late nineteenth century. David Wolfson, Chief of Staff to Margaret Thatcher, had a nebulous position. He had no prescribed duties, but he was a useful figure to have around, undertaking personal and political tasks for the Prime Minister, and creating a relaxed atmosphere. He was also wealthy enough not to need payment. Jonathan Powell was the most powerful figure inside Tony Blair’s No. 10, exercising the legal authority to manage career officials. Since Powell, the Chief of Staff has been a firmer part of the Prime Minister’s team. Brown revoked the management power Powell had enjoyed under Blair but, despite Cameron not restoring it in 2010, Llewellyn is still an important figure. He plays a significant role in foreign policy, and in liaising with the Liberal Democrats to ensure the smooth running of the coalition. The Deputy Chief of Staff, Kate Fall, is another pre-2010 general election veteran, and knows the Prime Minister from their time at Oxford. She has close personal access to the Prime Minister and keeps his diary.


Stephen Gilbert is the No. 10 Political Secretary. He acts as the link between the Prime Minister and the Conservative Party. Premiers have needed ways of handling mass parties ever since their rise in the nineteenth century, stimulated by the great reform acts of 1832 and 1867. In the 1830s and 40s, Robert Peel, who disliked party business himself, devolved such work to Francis Bonham. Bonham’s knowledge of the Conservative Party made him indispensable. Despite revelations about Bonham’s business-dealings, Peel remained loyal to him. Gilbert’s specific post can be traced back directly to Marcia Williams who was brought into Downing Street by Wilson in 1964 and met resistance from permanent officials, but was ferocious in her determination to establish herself. Her immediate successor, supporting Heath, was Douglas Hurd, who did not encounter the same difficulties. A Cameron appointment who is harder to categorise is Colonel Jim Morris, Military Assistant to the Prime Minister. Morris served in Afghanistan as Commanding Officer of the 45 Commando Royal Marines and received a Distinguished Service Order. He then worked for the Secretary of State for Defence, Liam Fox, before joining Cameron in October 2010. Morris advises Cameron on military issues in general and Afghanistan in particular. He is most reminiscent of the men in uniform Churchill liked to have around, especially Hastings Ismay, Churchill’s crucial link with the Chiefs of Staff Committee. Various prime ministers of the 1920s and 30s welcomed the presence of the Cabinet Secretary Maurice Hankey, who came from a background as a Royal Marine artillery officer.


The Chancellor of the Exchequer, George Osborne, is a close ally of Cameron. From the early historic period of the premiership through to the mid-nineteenth century, prime ministers were normally in direct control of the Treasury. If they sat in the Commons, they held the post of Chancellor themselves, alongside that of First Lord of the Treasury. The Treasury was, in effect, the department of the Prime Minister. From the mid-nineteenth century the Treasury separated from the premiership and the Prime Minister has never had a proper department since, though the establishment of such an entity has been considered. Because the connection with financial and economic policy has weakened it is valuable if a premier can work closely with the political head of the Treasury, the Chancellor. When prime ministers are not able to do so, as has happened with Macmillan, Thatcher and Blair, severe problems can arise.


A key personal influence on Cameron is his wife Samantha. Earlier prime ministers have received various forms of assistance from their spouses –Mrs Gladstone sometimes carried out secretarial duties for her husband – and other family members have become involved in prime-ministerial support work. Gladstone, Law and Ramsay MacDonald all deployed their children in their offices. Prime ministers need personal and household support for their family life: providing meals, transport, carrying messages, enabling them to relax and be human. Those who do so may roam beyond such activities into matters of state or be suspected of doing so.


Cameron’s aides – civil servants


When Cameron first became Prime Minister, alongside members of his existing entourage, another aide became crucial. Jeremy Heywood was already in place as Permanent Secretary to the Prime Minister’s Office, a role created especially for Heywood by Gordon Brown in 2008. Previously the highest-ranking permanent official at No. 10 was the Principal Private Secretary. At least since the time of Henry Pelham in the 1740s every premier has had a private secretary (whether Walpole before him had one is unclear). The total number of private secretaries attached to the Prime Minister grew slowly over time, and they have included among their number an individual as illustrious as Edmund Burke, who worked for Lord Rockingham in 1765–66. Heywood’s successor at No. 10 was Chris Martin, another career official, drawn from the Treasury, who took the title Director General placing him below a Permanent Secretary but above a Principal Private Secretary.


At the beginning of 2012 Heywood became Cabinet Secretary, an office which dates to late 1916, when Lloyd George decided he needed an official to take minutes at meetings of his War Cabinet to avoid confusion about what senior ministers had actually agreed to do. Holders of the Cabinet Secretary post are major players in government, and perhaps the most powerful prime-ministerial aide of all, Norman Brook, built up his authority from this position in the post-Second World War period. In his new post Heywood was based formally at 70 Whitehall, the address of the Cabinet Office headquarters next door. This building is in an area once known as the ‘Cockpit’ which has long been a centre for British administration and many prime-ministerial aides have worked there. Since the 1730s they have been able to access No. 10 through a connecting passageway, with no need to walk out onto Whitehall and round to Downing Street. But they are not as close to the Prime Minister as they would be if based at No. 10. Cameron does not see as much of Heywood as he did when the aide was his former Permanent Secretary, and Heywood no longer works exclusively for the Prime Minister.


Another career official, Sir Bob Kerslake, the head of the home civil service, supports Cameron on Whitehall issues. He attends Cabinet and meets with the Prime Minister every few weeks to discuss civil service reform. Kerslake simultaneously fills the post of Permanent Secretary to the Department of Communities and Local Government. Previous occupants of his civil service post have been among the most prominent of prime-ministerial aides. Warren Fisher, the first official head of the home civil service, combining the role with that of Permanent Secretary to the Treasury, was an influential voice for successive prime ministers for nearly the entire interwar period. Later, William Armstrong, who held the post of head of the home civil service, was so important to the embattled Edward Heath in the early 1970s that he came to be known informally as ‘Deputy Prime Minister’. Eventually the pressure of his role drove him to a nervous breakdown.


Perhaps Kerslake’s time will not prove as important or dramatic as such predecessors, but he is involved in a Whitehall reform programme of radical intent, which seeks to open up the policy-making process to outside groups, introduce private-sector practices to the civil service and give a greater role for ministers in determining who their senior Whitehall aides should be. These objectives are born partly from the frustration some prime ministers, including Wilson and Thatcher, have felt with the Whitehall machine. The career civil service, which developed slowly from the eighteenth century, adheres to the principle of impartiality. Its staff are not supposed to become attached to particular politicians or policies. From the point of view of premiers it may seem that aides of this kind, who keep their jobs whether a given government stands or falls, are not as committed to their success as partisan special advisers. It is certainly the case that party political aides tend to be more concerned with the immediate political consequences of decisions, the day-to-day popularity of the government and the winning of elections. At the same time, permanent civil servants will probably want policies to be successful, and their non-partisan perspective can be helpful to the analysis of options. Once, the divisions that now separate party-political and impartial official assistants did not exist. In the eighteenth century, ‘men of business’, as they were known, were able to work in both environments. Secretaries to the Treasury, the most important of prime-ministerial aides in this early period, could hold seats in the Commons, perform a role similar to today’s Chief Whip, organise election campaigns and take an interest in partisan propaganda, while at the same time fulfilling functions which are today taken on by officials such as the Cabinet Secretary, head of the home civil service and Permanent Secretary to the Treasury, all as part of the same portfolio.


The Prime Minister and his support team, career officials and outsiders alike, operate in an environment more clearly defined and limited than that of previous eras. A number of codes, some with a legal basis, others of less firm status, set out principles and practices governing their activities. They include the Ministerial Code, the Cabinet Manual, the Civil Service Code and the Code of Conduct for Special Advisers. Aides run the risk of public criticism if they are construed as violating any of the stipulations in these documents and written submissions they produce may be made public under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. Persuading backbenchers of the governing parties to vote for legislative proposals they recommend is increasingly difficult. Policies are more likely than they once were to fall foul of judicial review, for instance because they are found incompatible with European law or the Human Rights Act 1998. The advent of devolution in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales has substantially restricted the impact of UK government in these areas. In some senses aides are working for the Prime Minister of England. If staff members become involved in controversial episodes, there is a reasonable chance a Prime Minister may feel obliged to establish a public inquiry of some kind. A greater willingness seems to exist on the police’s part to investigate the activities of premiers and their aides. The power of the premiership has always been limited in its impact, and its actions likely to be subject to criticism, but now the constraints upon the office, sometimes taking a codified or fully legal form, are more tangible and the opportunities for negative scrutiny greater than before. 


The purpose of this book


A large and burgeoning body of literature exists on the British premiership. Theories abound about its development and the way it exercises power. While there is disagreement about many features of this institution, it is the most important political office in the land. The holder of the premiership is the most prominent political figure within Britain, at the top of the greasy pole. But given the level of interest in the office and the importance ascribed to it, the gaps in our knowledge are surprising. Attempts to consider the entire history of the premiership are few, yet it is integral to the political history of Great Britain.1 Almost since the formation of the state in 1706–7, the office of Prime Minister and the people who have held it have in one form or another been at the centre of events. We sought to begin the correction of this omission in an earlier work.2 Another underexplored area, the subject of this present assessment, is that of the history of aides to the Prime Ministers. Analysis of the premiership from a contemporary perspective has given a reasonable level of attention to the staff attached to it, though there is scope for more work considering this subject in its own right. The real gap comes in assessing the past development of prime-ministerial assistants. Only two similarly titled works come into this category. The first is a collection of profiles of particular aides, covering a period from the 1860s to the 1940s, titled The Powers Behind the Prime Ministers by Charles Petrie. The second, The Powers Behind the Prime Minister by Dennis Kavanagh and Anthony Seldon, first published in 1999, describes the teams supporting successive prime ministers, focusing on the period from 1970 but with background material starting, again, in the 1860s. The second work in particular is of great value and we draw on it here.


Our book covers new ground primarily because of the timespan it covers, starting with the rise to prominence of Robert Walpole – often regarded as the first Prime Minister – in the early eighteenth century. It considers both the people who worked for premiers and the structures they operated within. We balance accounts of overall trends with biographical profiles of key individuals. For any given period we have a number of interests. Who was important? What did they do? How did they interact with each other? What was changing? What past precedents were there for what was going on, and what precedents for the future were now appearing? How do developments in one era fit into the whole procession of history? We interpret the term aide to the Prime Minister broadly. Our interest is in whether or not someone mattered to a premier, even if providing this assistance was not part of an official role. At the same time we are concerned with the formal support-structures surrounding the premiership and the overall constitutional environment.


We focus on individuals who were subordinate to the Prime Minister more than those who tended to wield power on their own accounts, such as deputy prime ministers. We emphasise the importance of proximity of various kinds: personal, physical and organisational. The terms of employment of aides – temporary or permanent – and the rules applying to them, allowing party-political activity or requiring impartiality, are recurring themes. We consider what drove change when it occurred, and the different conflicts that were at stake over the operation of prime-ministerial aides and the public representation of them. We assess the part played by prime-ministerial assistants in key events in British history.


The chapters divide into five time periods. First is 1721–1868. At the beginning of this era, Robert Walpole began his 21-year stint as First Lord of the Treasury, during which he made the most important early contribution to the development of the office of Prime Minister. The cut-off point comes with the first general election to take place after the substantial expansion of the franchise brought about by the Representation of the People Act 1867. By this time the premiership was in a second phase of its own historical development. Where previously holders of the office were normally directly responsible for the Treasury, by the mid-nineteenth century this important early link had weakened. The second runs from 1868 to 1916. By the latter point it had become clear the routines of the late nineteenth century could not cope with the pressures of a world war. The third (1916–45) begins with the dramatic arrival of David Lloyd George at No. 10, and ends with the departure of another war leader, Winston Churchill. Both influenced the role and remit of prime-ministerial support teams. In the following period, 1945–97, Britain struggled to reverse perceived national decline partly through changes to the way prime ministers were supported and advised. The final period (1997–2010) covers the time when ‘New Labour’ held power, leading up to the current arrangements considered in this introduction. Tony Blair began some of the most substantial changes to the premiership and its staff ever seen, and his successor, Gordon Brown, struggled to find an effective approach of his own.


We draw on secondary sources as well as diaries, private papers and National Archive files. We footnote the key sources in the text and provide a list of further reading at the end. This project has benefited from a long period of gestation during which our subject has undergone significant development. We have conducted, over a period of decades, interviews with more than 100 members of the prime-ministerial staff, on and off the record. Their periods of service date back as far as the Asquith premiership at the beginning of the last century and as recently as the present Cameron tenure. We provide a list of the more formal interviews with dates at the end of the book. Arrangements are in hand to deposit our records in a research archive where others can access them.







1 In this book, we use the term ‘Britain’ to refer both to Great Britain and the later state, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland/Northern Ireland.


2 See: A. Blick and G. Jones, Premiership: The Development, Nature and Power of the Office of the British Prime Minister (Exeter: Imprint Academic, 2010).






















CHAPTER TWO


AIDES TO AN EMERGING OFFICE, 1721–1868





When the British premiership began to emerge during the eighteenth century, its existence was uncertain and changing. But this developing political office had one definite and constant feature: the individual who filled the position needed help. Robert Walpole is commonly regarded as in practice the first Prime Minister (1721–42). He and his eighteenth-century successors deployed assistants whose roles would not be out of place in the present Downing Street: aides advised on policy and saw it was implemented; they leaned on MPs to vote with the government in Parliament; they helped make decisions about appointments to key posts; they sought to manage the media and manipulate the outcomes of elections. They could become controversial figures, with their activities subject to critical public scrutiny. These characteristics of the prime-ministerial staff have endured.


Like today’s special advisers, early aides were committed to the political success of the particular premier they served. By the early nineteenth century a permanent civil service with less obvious personal and political attachments slowly started to appear. A further development involved the Treasury. At first, premiers could commonly use it as their own department, helping them achieve pre-eminence in the country, in Parliament and within their own governments. From the nineteenth century, however, the Prime Minister gave up direct responsibility for the Treasury. This change severed premiers from a crucial power base and their role as chair of the Cabinet became an increasingly important source of authority. In later periods the earlier departmental incarnation of the premiership was largely forgotten. Subsequent prime ministers and their aides would sense the absence of a large-scale support staff and ponder the possibility of creating their own department.


Robert Walpole and the development of an institution


The office of Prime Minister has always had vague parameters, and is still not clearly defined to this day, in law or otherwise. Murkiest of all its history is the early period. The very idea of a Prime Minister was an affront to constitutional orthodoxy. According to established thought, no one single subject of the monarch should rise above others and it was believed the introduction of a premier would represent the inappropriate imposition of French administrative methods. The title ‘Prime Minister’ began as a term of abuse during the reign of Queen Anne (1702–14), applied to her successive Lord High Treasurers Sidney Godolphin (1702–10) and Robert Harley (1711–14), both of whom used the Treasury as a power base. The proposition that a single subject might become more important than all others was seen as wrong, an undesirable introduction of French constitutional practices. Each minister, according to orthodox thinking, should be responsible for his particular policy area directly to the monarch, who was her or his own premier. Given the hostility towards the very idea of a Prime Minister in the eighteenth century, and the circumspection it prompted, a precise archaeological history of the office is difficult to establish. Premiers denied the label applied to them even if it obviously did. It was not always clear who was the Prime Minister and there did not necessarily have to be one at all. Only by the mid-nineteenth century was the post clearly established as a permanent and proper feature of government.3 Formal recognition came later still, starting slowly from the 1870s. This long period of uncertainty around the early office clouds any study of the aides attached to it. The lack of a formal post of Prime Minister meant no official staff and an explicitly labelled ‘Prime Minister’s Office’ did not appear until the 1970s. Yet the history of aides is as old as – and inseparable from – that of the premiers they served.


Public controversy, civil war and revolution during the seventeenth century led to a new power balance within the English constitution. Monarchs were now more dependent upon Parliament to provide them with money and enable them to pursue their desired policies. Furthermore, the House of Commons was gradually but surely establishing dominance over the House of Lords. Walpole, by exploiting the opportunities this new environment created – operating from a base in the Commons, not the Lords – made his crucial early contribution to the development of the office of Prime Minister. His aides both supported a particular politician who came to be regarded as a premier and helped establish an institution that others would inherit in future. Over the decades that followed, as subsequent prime ministers used and adapted Walpole’s techniques, the role of being the single most important national political leader passed from the monarch to the Prime Minister.


Walpole rose to indisputable pre-eminence within government by 1730. He was the dominant figure within the House of Commons and the government, gaining royal favour and influencing the dispersal of patronage. Walpole provided a direct link between the Crown and the Treasury on the one hand and the Commons on the other. His task was complex and his position never entirely secure, as shown when he fell in 1742. Though Walpole’s skill as a politician was immense, he needed help and part of his brilliance was in assembling and deploying a team in pursuit of his objectives. The extensive use of aides fitted well with Walpole’s approach to government. He was disposed to dominate policy and did not feel obliged to discuss decisions with other ministers even if their immediate areas of interest were involved. After all, the Treasury, of which he was head, had to underwrite the cost of everything. Collective Cabinet responsibility as it was later understood had not yet developed. Government was more a disparate collection of individuals than a cohesive group and, while a full Cabinet numbering at least twelve existed, Walpole preferred to use smaller collections of allies.4


One basis for Walpole’s power was the dispersal of patronage to secure political support and his methods were not dissimilar to those used in former Soviet states. Again his role as head of the Treasury was important. Walpole expanded his personal involvement in numerous decisions about who would benefit from the Treasury, with an eye on what could be obtained in return. He and his Secretary to the Treasury, John Scrope, oversaw the distribution of jobs and contracts and were able to spread their influence widely through the country, and buy support in Parliament.5 Walpole also needed help with another function. His relationship with the King was vital and though Walpole could be persuasive he did not want to overplay his hand by impressing his views directly on the monarch too often. Walpole believed that the King would be more favourable towards an idea if he thought of it as his own. Walpole paid George I’s mistresses to help encourage the King’s thoughts in certain directions and worked closely with George II’s queen, Caroline, to similar ends. Informers provided Walpole with intelligence about who had proposed different courses of action. The most significant Walpole aide at court was John Hervey, who became a controversial figure. In 1735 the opposition poet Alexander Pope portrayed Hervey as an extension of the will of Walpole: ‘as the prompter breathes, the puppet speaks’.6


Alongside the confidence of the monarch Walpole needed to ensure he had the support of Parliament. Part of his success in securing the compliance of the legislature was through his influence on its composition. If Walpole backed a particular candidate who secured entry into the Commons, the premier could expect the favour to be returned when the individual concerned voted (and perhaps when they spoke) in the House. Substantial payments, often drawn from the Secret Service fund, were used to win elections (which involved a tiny franchise and no secret ballot). Purportedly set aside for espionage, those using this money were accountable not to Parliament, but to the King. This fund acquired an unsavoury reputation as being a fund for political bribes. Those helping Walpole with elections included Scrope and other Treasury staff such as Richard Edgcumbe, a Lord of the Treasury who organised election campaigns in Cornwall. As well as influencing who was returned to Parliament Walpole deployed MPs to liaise with those currently sitting in the Commons.


Alongside organisational innovations, Walpole created the physical environment in which many prime ministers and their aides would operate in future. In 1732 George II proposed to give  him 10 Downing Street. The property had its attractions. It was in easy reach of the House of Commons, but the reconstruction and upkeep that would be necessary might make it a financial liability. To avoid these costs Walpole proposed that rather than receive it personally the property should become a permanent residence for the First Lord of the Treasury. After the King gave it over, Walpole put the architect William Kent to work on expanding and converting the No. 10 building. It was ready for occupation in 1735 and became the home and office of many premiers (though not all chose to live there) and their staff. Kent’s contribution to British government did not end with Downing Street. The Treasury needed new premises following the fire of 1698 which had destroyed much of the Palace of Whitehall. By the 1730s the Treasury was based in an area known as the ‘Cockpit’, just north of Downing Street. The name ‘Cockpit’ had similar implications to ‘Downing Street’, ‘No. 10’ or ‘Whitehall’ today. These premises were in a sorry condition and the Treasury required a new building. Kent won this commission too and completed it by 1736. The ‘Kent Treasury’, as staff still refer to it, now forms part of the 70 Whitehall complex, which takes in the old Cockpit area.


As part of his building project Kent made an important contribution to the dynamics of the relationship between premiers in Downing Street and staff in what is now 70 Whitehall. He built corridors connecting No. 10 with the Treasury, ‘thus creating the physical axis around which central government still turns’.7 Walpole could walk through from No. 10 easily without having to go out onto the street. In the early period of the premiership it was natural that the First Lord, who was then directly responsible for the Treasury, should have immediate physical access to its employees, who can be regarded as his aides. In 1963, 70 Whitehall became the headquarters for the Cabinet Office. Prime ministers were able in this later period to use the staff based there – but the relationship was more complicated because the Cabinet Office served government collectively (at least until the early twenty-first century), not just the premier.


Media management under Walpole


Like many politicians before and since, Walpole was concerned with the public’s perception of him and his government – and sought to colour it. He endured powerful literary attacks in diverse media during his term of office, which he lacked the legal means completely to silence. Consequently, after a slow start, Walpole developed an increasingly sophisticated public-relations operation.8 He sought to discourage criticism and promote his own case, and engaged various aides to assist with different parts of this project. While it was an impressive feat of organisation, his operation and key figures within it became a subject of criticism, providing further fuel to the same sources he had set out to combat.


During his long period of office, criticism of Walpole as a person and his policies appeared in various media, including journals, pamphlets, plays and poetry. Sometimes it was explicit, at others implied. Coordinated attacks came from the Scriblerus Club, a literary group of staggering combined ability, whose associates included John Gay, Alexander Pope and a young Henry Fielding. At the centre of Scriblerus was Jonathan Swift, who had worked for the prototypical premier, Harley, earlier in the century. Harley had developed propaganda systems in an environment created by the Licensing Act ceasing to have effect in 1695. No longer could governments simply stop criticism of them from being published. They had to find active methods of promoting themselves, hence the value to Harley of Swift and his colleagues.


With Walpole in office, Scriblerus was now an opposition group. Its members found some of their best material in their assault on the Prime Minister. Swift’s Gulliver’s Travels included a character, Flimnap, Treasurer to the Emperor of Lilliput, who was an oblique representation of Walpole.9 Gay’s celebrated comic musical The Beggar’s Opera was first performed in 1728. It contains various allusions to corruption in the Walpole government, splits between different members of it and insinuations about the personal life of its head. One character, Robin of Bagshot, member of the highwayman Macheath’s gang, has aliases including ‘Bob Booty’ – a nickname that stuck to Walpole for the rest of his career. Alongside a general tainting of the public reputation of Walpole, literary activities could help undermine specific policies. Media-driven U-turns were possible in the eighteenth century; Walpole dropped his Excise Bill of 1733 under pressure from the opposition press.


During the course of the 1720s attacks on Walpole escalated and he started to develop methods intended to thwart them. At first his approach was defensive. One course of action was to try and prosecute the critics but it was a difficult task and might backfire. Other methods were to use bribery to discourage the production of unhelpful literature, or prevent it from reaching its intended destination using control of the post office. In tandem with such efforts Walpole moved towards a more positive approach. Eventually he constructed a complete propaganda machine. He deployed writers, distribution mechanisms and outlets, all dedicated to damning his opponents and promoting and rebutting criticism of his government. Journals of which Walpole gained control included the British Journal, the Daily Courant, the Flying Post, the Corn Cutters Journal and the Free Briton.


There were three categories of pro-government writers: those for whom writing was their primary source of income; those with another job, often as politicians; and those whom Walpole already engaged in another capacity. Though they were never of the same quality as the Scriblerus Club, they were effective in their own way. Participants in Walpole’s media activities often worked as a team. If Walpole discovered difficult accusations about to emerge, as in 1735 over his alleged participation in financial wrongdoings with the South Sea Company, his actions in stemming the tide of public opinion anticipated the media monitoring and ‘rapid rebuttal’ methods introduced under Tony Blair in the late twentieth century. They would assess the nature of the story that was unravelling and develop ways of countering it. Walpole had two main aides helping to coordinate his media operation: Thomas Gordon and Nicholas Paxton.


Thomas Gordon, previously the author of political pamphlets, took an interest in the literary content of the Walpole propaganda campaign. The exact details of his role and the length of time he served as an aide are unclear but Walpole appointed him First Commissioner of Wine Licences in 1723. The Wine Licence Office seems to have become something of a front for government publicity operations. By 1740 all five commissioners were Walpole placemen and three of them were involved in propaganda, though not as part of their official duties.


Paxton was more concerned with the mechanics. Contemporaries regarded him as an unsavoury figure. Paul Whitehead, an opposition poet, described him as ‘yon fell Harpy hovr’ring o’er the Press’.10 Paxton, a lawyer by training, was Solicitor to the Treasury. In this post he was responsible for identifying actionable published material. He was closely involved in attempts to ban opposition propaganda or restrict its dissemination. His role invoked resentment. ‘Dialogue II’ from Epistle to the Satires by Pope opens with the line: ‘’Tis all a libel – Paxton, sir, will say.’ Paxton had substantial funds at his disposal and channelled payments to writers. This feature of his work attracted further comment from Pope, when describing how each cheap writer or ‘hackney’ received ‘double pots and pay’ from Paxton.11 The money Paxton disbursed had further uses: buying political intelligence and shoring up the local electoral position of the government.


Edmund Gibson (1669–1748)


Edmund Gibson, Bishop of London and nicknamed ‘Walpole’s Pope’, is a prime example of the creative use Walpole made of aides, providing services that prime ministers find valuable, including liaising with important groups, and advising on the dispersal of patronage and policy. Gibson was a figure of intellectual, ecclesiastical and political substance, and studied at Queen’s College, Oxford. After dabbling with the idea of a legal career Gibson entered the clergy. He became associated with the Whigs and in 1714 gave a sermon against the Tories in support of the Hanoverian succession. Gibson became Bishop of Lincoln in 1715, which provided him with a place in the Lords and cemented his position as an increasingly prominent Whig. The twenty-six bishops in the Lords comprised an important political bloc and the Anglican Church was a powerful force in the land beyond Parliament. It had tended to display more Tory than Whig loyalties. In 1723 five bishops died, including Charles Trimnell, the Bishop of Winchester, who was the senior adviser to the Whigs on church matters. Consequently Walpole and his partner in government at the time, Charles Townshend, had both the opportunity to fill the new vacancies with amenable individuals and the need for a new ecclesiastical counsellor, whom they found in Gibson. Gibson was already advising Townshend at the time but claimed to be reluctant to take on this grand position. Yet Walpole and others sensed the ambitious nature lying behind his protestations. Gibson acquired an unpleasant reputation for flattering those above him and abusing those below.


The Bishop of Lincoln rose to become the Bishop of London. When Townshend fell from power in 1730, Gibson became closer to Walpole. Though often known as ‘Church minister’ and wielding substantial influence, Gibson played only an informal role. Working from an office in the Cockpit, Gibson’s personal access to Walpole was critical. He helped build up a pro-Whig faction in the Church in general and among the bishops in the Lords. The people he recommended for posts were often politically reliable, but not so radical as to alienate the wider church. Gibson also managed the bishops in the Lords, acting as what would later be called a whip (a title adopted from hunting terminology as the eighteenth century progressed – a ‘whipper-in’ of men as opposed to hounds). His crucial contributions in this role included securing twenty-four votes in the 1733 debate on the South Sea Company that had threatened severely to damage the government.


Gibson was a conduit between government and clergy. An important adviser on church policy, Gibson had his own programme set out in long notes he sent to Walpole and Townshend. In general, he agreed with making the church more pro-Whig but Gibson sometimes objected to appointments made purely for such reasons. He wanted to take into account intellectual abilities, personal values and beliefs. Gibson did not succeed in his attempt to bring about a full reorganisation of the church. In 1736 Gibson resigned, as much as he could from an unofficial position, because he objected to a government measure to increase the rights of Quakers. He was not selected for appointment as Archbishop of Canterbury when the office became vacant the following year. Gibson had supposedly previously resisted this formal promotion because it would mean losing day-to-day access to Walpole. Then as now, physical proximity to the Prime Minister could at times trump formal status. But now he wanted the senior post in the Church, it was denied to the out-of-favour Gibson. After the fall of Walpole his links with the Whig leadership grew stronger again and he became an adviser once more, though perhaps not a direct prime-ministerial support role in exactly the same way as before.12


Post-mortem of a government


When Walpole fell from power, his enemies saw the chance to exact revenge. There followed swiftly an attempt in Parliament to impeach him for corruption. Walpole’s opponents tried to target him through his aides; his contemporaries knew how important his staff were to his system of government. Up to this point, legal attacks followed by imprisonment or exile had been a standard part of the repertoire of the partisan power struggle. But this time the attempt to construct a case for prosecution was unsuccessful. In future, while attacks continued on later prime ministers and their aides, the means were political. The ultimate sanction against a premier was defeat through a vote of no-confidence in the Commons, a coup staged by other members of the elite, or a general election. Walpole’s successful evasion in 1742 helped establish this change of practice – though in recent times more legal and judicial involvement in the No. 10 sphere has occurred with the ‘cash for honours’ police investigation, judge-led inquiries (instigated by prime ministers) and the rise of judicial review.


In January 1742, judging he had lost the support of the Commons, Walpole resigned. On 23 March 1742 Parliament passed a motion establishing a ‘Committee of Secrecy’. Its twenty-one members consisted of both peers and MPs. Their task was to ‘enquire into the conduct’ of Walpole’s government during his last ten years in office. The central interest was Walpole’s management of elections through Secret Service money and granting of official contracts. However, the inquiry made no progress. The Commons Speaker, Onslow – who had himself received favour from Walpole – was able to place Walpole supporters on the committee. One of Walpole’s senior electoral operatives, Richard Edgcumbe, received a peerage, which historian H. T. Dickinson writes ‘put him beyond the reach of the committee’.13


Other aides to Walpole were called but they would not cooperate. On 13 April 1742 the Chairman of the Committee of Secrecy, Lord Limerick, reported to Parliament that Nicholas Paxton, placed on oath, had refused to answer questions. The committee moved to use the sanction of placing him in the custody of the Serjeant at Arms and the motion passed. The Committee of Secrecy could examine its prisoner as often as it wanted; Paxton appeared before it the following day. But on 15 April Limerick informed the House that Paxton had once more refused to cooperate so the committee resolved to move him to Newgate prison, where he would continue to be available to the committee for questioning.


The committee then chose to reveal details of its inquiry to convey the problems it was encountering with Paxton. It had uncovered evidence incriminating him in electoral irregularities and misuse of public money in the borough of Wendover in 1735. One witness, John Jones, had described how, when acting on behalf of the candidate, John Boteler, he delivered to Paxton a letter requesting money. According to Jones, after reading it Paxton asked Jones to see him the following day at Roger Williams’s coffee house. At this meeting Paxton gave Jones ‘a parcel of money’. Most, if not all of it, was in bank notes. Jones estimated the amount to be £500. When handing it over Jones recalled Paxton telling him, ‘here is your answer’. Paxton confirmed to the committee that he knew both Jones and Boteler. But when asked if he had passed money to Jones to help Boteler he repeatedly refused to answer the question ‘as it may tend to accuse myself’.


Despite incarcerating Paxton, the Committee of Secrecy failed to break him. One report complained of his ‘obstinate and contemptuous’ behaviour and recorded that he appeared to have been directly or indirectly involved in most of the transactions it had investigated. The committee noted concern at the huge sums placed at the disposal of Paxton when he was Solicitor to the Treasury without the presence of any proper means of ensuring his accountability. Such laxity, the committee believed, permitted practices detrimental both to the liberty of the nation and to parliamentary independence.


In June 1742 the Committee of Secrecy called Walpole’s Secretary to the Treasury, John Scrope, to explain the use made of the £1,052,211 that was tracked back to him and Walpole. When adjusted for inflation, this sum would easily exceed £150 million today. To refuse to respond to questions about it from Parliament would be an act of audacity – not something beyond Scrope. He refused to take the oath on the grounds that questions might arise which he was determined he would not answer and also added that he could not give information about Secret Service money without permission from the King. He held that such funds by their nature required secrecy and that those disposing of them were answerable only to the monarch, who could not allow him to disclose details about them.14 Scrope reportedly told the committee that, as an octogenarian, he did not mind if he spent what remained of his life in the Tower and would betray neither the King nor Walpole. (In fact he survived another decade and remained in office until his death.) The committee abandoned its attempt to extract information from him.


Opponents of Walpole, realising they were not getting anywhere, introduced a bill that would make those who gave evidence against Walpole immune to prosecution themselves. The Commons passed it but the Lords vetoed it. The Committee of Secrecy dragged on in its efforts to put together a case against Walpole, but could not manage to do so. In December 1742 there was an attempt to set up another committee but it failed. Yet while it did not get the cooperation it sought, the inquiry nevertheless revealed exorbitant outlays of cash carried out with the help of aides. Walpole had distributed more than £50,000 in the final ten years of his period in power for propaganda ends alone.15 As his government crumbled, a final financial scramble had occurred. In its last six weeks more Secret Service money was drawn than in the three years up to August 1710. Treasury staff down to the level of messengers, as well as officials from other departments, assisted Walpole in his covert operations, surely benefitting personally in the process.


The Place Act of 1742 was a further parliamentary reaction to Walpole’s political management operation. It determined that a series of officials including Treasury deputies and clerks were precluded from sitting in the House of Commons. Advocates of the Act saw it as a means of preventing governments such as Walpole’s from corrupting and dominating Parliament. A number of the officers excluded from the Commons by the Place Act had under Walpole been not only his parliamentary placemen but worked as his aides. Never again could prime ministers have as many support staff rooted in the legislature, voting or sometimes speaking on their behalf. This law was an important early stage in the development of an administrative machine distinct from the competitive political environment of Parliament. But it should not be concluded that after Walpole there was a cessation of the use by premiers – assisted by aides – of official resources for murky ends.


The Prime Minister and Treasury staff


In the eighteenth century, though there could be no formal department of the Prime Minister, premiers were usually directly responsible for the largest and most important office of government: the Treasury. Nearly all early premiers held the office of First Lord of the Treasury. The First Lord was the head of the Treasury in both name and practice. If the First Lord sat in the Commons, he simultaneously held the office of Chancellor of the Exchequer. That early premiers were in charge of the Treasury is central to any understanding of the development of the office of Prime Minister – and of the aides attached to it. The Treasury was a power base that helped facilitate the emergence of the British premiership. After the role of chief minister became more established in its own right, the association with the Treasury weakened. The post of Chancellor of the Exchequer became more distinct and grew more powerful, carrying with it the senior responsibility for the Treasury and finance once attached to the premier.16 Before these developments, prime ministers received support in tasks ranging from policy development to parliamentary and electoral management from the staff of the Treasury, who can be regarded as their aides at that time.


A significant Treasury official for some early prime ministers was the Solicitor to the Treasury. In this position Nicholas Paxton had helped Walpole with the application of patronage and provided advice on rebutting criticism of the government. Paxton’s successor, John Sharpe, was important to Henry Pelham (1743–54) in his premiership. One of his tasks was the distribution of large amounts of money. In 1747 and 1748 he disbursed a minimum of £105,000 in compensation to those who had suffered as a consequence of a cattle disease, a task that reflects the level of responsibility that prime ministers could entrust to their Treasury staff.17


Of all aides, the secretaries to the Treasury were the most important to the early premiers yet still the origins of this post are uncertain. In an article from the 1930s, Dora Clark described how the role descends from the sixteenth-century assistant to the Treasurer of the Exchequer, and up until 1711 there was only one Secretary to the Treasury, at which time a second was added. Initially a senior secretary remained in post permanently while a junior resigned when the First Lord who had recruited him  left office. Then, between 1758 and 1782, a practice developed that when there was a changeover in the government both left. In this sense the role had become more clearly politicised. Previously the senior secretary had tended to carry out more work than the junior but the tasks were now shared more equally.18 Normally secretaries held a seat in the Commons. As ever in eighteenth-century politics, many financial perks came with the job. Holders of government positions treated them as a form of property that they could exploit. Secretaries often went on to occupy more senior offices. A charge levelled at career civil servants in the twentieth century – that they were ‘generalists’, dabblers in such interests as the arts – could have been made against the secretaries to the Treasury, perhaps none more so than Richard Sheridan, the author of plays including School for Scandal and The Rivals, who held the post in 1783.


The wide range of tasks that fell to secretaries to the Treasury made the office increasingly demanding. As Members of Parliament secretaries provided essential knowledge of financial issues and the procedure of Parliament. They acted as prototypical whips, managing votes and applying discipline in the Commons. Secretaries helped organise elections, including attempting to predict outcomes across constituencies – equivalent to the opinion-polling of two centuries later. As well as being responsible for distributing the largest portion of the Secret Service money, they also managed the Treasury staff. Secretaries provided administrative support to the Treasury Board, including preparing and minuting its frequent meetings. They played a part in implementing decisions and held the power of discretion in a number of areas. Because of these roles, and their personal expertise, secretaries were in a position to exercise influence on policy. To add to the gravity of their work, they had to be on hand personally to help the First Lord of the Treasury, a close attachment that highlights the link between premiers and their secretaries.


One important holder of the post of Secretary to the Treasury was John Scrope, whom we have already encountered as one of Walpole’s most important aides. Born around 1662, he trained as a lawyer before becoming an aide to a succession of political leaders of different alignments. After working for the Godolphin and Harley governments he managed to survive when George I came to the throne and entered Parliament as an MP in 1722. When Walpole appointed him Secretary to the Treasury in 1724 he was already past the age of sixty and known as ‘old Scrope’. Yet he served in the office for nearly thirty years until he died in 1752. Following the fall of Walpole in 1742 it was assumed Scrope – who had a close association with the outgoing premier – would have to leave his post. Other aides to Walpole made an immediate exit but Scrope possessed unique expertise about Treasury work and the drafting of bills and he had a reputation for personal reliability; later leaders could dispense with his talents no more than those previous.19


A prominent Secretary to the Treasury later in the century was George Rose, first 1782–3, then 1783–1801. During the second, longer stretch he was a key aide to William Pitt the Younger. After serving in the navy Rose had worked his way through various administrative appointments. He was appointed as the junior Secretary to the Treasury when Lord Shelburne was premier in 1782. Pitt the Younger was Chancellor of the Exchequer at the time; when he became Prime Minister the following year he appointed Rose as his senior Secretary to the Treasury and they developed a close bond. His role as Secretary included the public presentation of the government and handling elections. Correspondence between Pitt and Rose shows the two of them were immersed together in the minutiae of government accounts. Rose helped prepare speeches for Pitt, and ensured that when the government dispensed patronage upon individuals those men were ready to repay the favour. Rose did not always share the policy preferences of Pitt the Younger, disagreeing with the premier’s desire to see the slave trade ended. In a manifestation of the rivalry so often found in prime-ministerial inner circles, Rose harboured hostility towards Pitt’s firmest Cabinet ally, Henry Dundas. Starting in 1784 the Morning Herald published in instalments verses parodying the Pitt government. Under the general heading ‘Criticisms on the Rolliad’, they included a portrayal of Rose as envious of the junior Secretary to the Treasury, Thomas Steele, and unable, despite ‘all his votes, his speeches, and his lies’, to ‘shine in Billy’s [Pitt’s] eyes’. Rose – who was becoming tired of office – left when Pitt the Younger resigned in 1801; he subsequently held various public offices and worked to return Pitt to power in 1804.20


Separation of the functions of government


Secretaries to the Treasury such as Scrope and Rose were able and effective in the assistance they provided to prime ministers but the myriad of tasks they performed inevitably placed immense demands on them. As pressures on government rose, existing Treasury arrangements for helping the person at its head became unsustainable. The prime-ministerial support system had to change if it were to continue to function effectively. The developments which followed, though they improved the position, had unforeseen consequences: they helped initiate the appearance of a permanent civil service. In future, staff associated with this institution would not necessarily prove as obliging to the prime ministers they served as past aides had been.


As the eighteenth century progressed, central government came under strain, a turn of events that fell heavily upon the secretaries to the Treasury. Pressure came from many and new directions. The population was growing, along with the economy. Social strains and calls for political reform came to the fore. But most dramatic and urgent were the wars in America and with France. All these factors added to the burden of work falling upon the Treasury. The multi-tasking role of the Secretary to the Treasury became almost impossible – as the sad end of Edward Chamberlain suggests. Chamberlain was one of only a minority of individuals who worked their way up from a lower level within the Treasury to become Secretary. He obtained this appointment in 1782, during the second premiership of Lord Rockingham. The task he had taken on appeared formidable and Chamberlain resorted to defenestration and killed himself. The increasingly party-political character of the Secretary’s role may have been particularly worrisome for him.21


A parliamentary commission of 1786 recommended that one Secretary to the Treasury should hold office permanently and not have a seat in the Commons. The Treasury did not find favour with this proposal at the time but in 1801, with stresses continuing to grow and conflict taking place in Europe, the political landscape shifted. The two secretaries to the Treasury each began to take on more specific and distinct functions. One would become a ‘Parliamentary’ or ‘Patronage Secretary’ and help the First Lord of the Treasury in handling the Commons – the role would later be titled the ‘Chief Whip’. The other would be the ‘Financial Secretary’, supporting the Chancellor of the Exchequer. Then in 1805 a Treasury minute of 19 August established a Secretary who could not sit in Parliament and was permanently in post. The title of this new post was Assistant Secretary and Law Clerk and the holder relieved the secretaries to the Treasury of many of their administrative duties. The major upheaval in the support system for premiers was completed in 1806 when specific provision was made for a secretary to the Prime Minister (in his guise as First Lord of the Treasury, with another secretary added in 1812). Not for the last time, war had quickened the pace of change at the centre of government.


Later in the nineteenth century premiers withdrew from direct involvement in the Treasury. Consequently the financial secretaries ceased to be their assistants, instead supporting the Chancellor of the Exchequer as the occupant of a distinct and prominent Cabinet office in its own right. The parliamentary secretary is the direct ancestor of the Chief Whip of later years, working for the Prime Minister in planning parliamentary business and enforcing discipline with a team of junior whips. Assistant secretaries to the Treasury became known as permanent under-secretaries – or more commonly permanent secretaries – from 1867. Once again, because of the First Lord’s detachment from the Treasury, the permanent secretaries’ attachment to the premier became less clearly visible.


Initially, assistant secretaries acted as personal counsellors to the First Lord of the Treasury. The first was George Harrison. From a financial law background, Harrison was favoured by Pitt the Younger, who advanced Harrison’s early administrative career and made him the inaugural Assistant Secretary to the Treasury in 1805, a post Harrison remained in until 1826. His permanency was not absolutely beyond doubt but, like Scrope before him, he ensured he was too useful to remove. After Pitt the Younger, other premiers such as Spencer Perceval (1809–12) depended upon him. Lord Liverpool (1812–27) found Harrison especially useful, taking his advice on handling financial institutions and the organisation of the machinery of government. While the creation of the post of Assistant Secretary was intended as a means of managing the government workload more effectively, the demands upon Harrison were still immense. A Treasury minute from 1815 suggests he possessed considerable delegated authority. It provided for a payment to him ‘upon whom … so much of the detail of the conduct of the business has devolved’, and described how he had been employed in secretive and vital business that the war brought to pass. These tasks could only realistically have been entrusted to someone in ‘constant attendance’. Here was the value of a permanent official not distracted by parliamentary and partisan duties.22


The reallocation of work within the Treasury was part of a broader trend. Secretaries to the Treasury were members of a class of political employee working for politicians, sometimes known as ‘men of business’. The eighteenth century saw the slow beginnings of a process that would eventually divide their tasks and allot them to two different groups in British government. One group was that of party politicians.


With seats in the Commons, or peerages, they held ministerial offices temporarily, according to their personal fortunes and those of the government to which they belonged. The other group was that of officials – the civil service as they came to be known collectively – who occupied posts permanently, regardless of changes of government. They were not parliamentarians and came to maintain a distance from parties or political competition, usually avoiding attachments to particular ministers and policies.


Causes of this separation included a desire for greater efficiency through the division of labour, and parliamentary pressure for more accountable governance. The split was tentative in the eighteenth century, but accelerated in the nineteenth – with intellectual impetus coming from the famous report produced by Charles Trevelyan and Stafford Northcote in 1854 – and was most pronounced around the mid-twentieth century. Prime ministers were served by aides on either side of the divide. On the one hand there were parliamentary politicians, such as whips, parliamentary private secretaries and ministers with special responsibilities. On the other hand many permanent civil servants supported premiers. From the 1920s through to at least the 1960s they came to dominate administrative activity at No. 10 and were the most numerous among the senior prime-ministerial aides, able to provide Harrison’s ‘constant attendance’.


There were drawbacks. One of the tasks of premiers is to connect administration with competitive politics. Aides able to operate in both environments can be invaluable. In the eighteenth century, secretaries to the Treasury had provided prime ministers with such an overlapping service. Even as the separation of bureaucracy from the partisan struggle was at its earliest stages, some provisions exempted secretaries to the Treasury from any such distinction. Under The Place Act of 1742, Treasury clerks were prohibited from sitting in Parliament, but the Act specifically did not apply to secretaries to the Treasury. Furthermore, upon being appointed, secretaries to the Treasury who held places in the Commons were not subject to an obligation to resign and recontest their seats, unlike those who were newly placed in senior ministerial offices. But the position of secretaries to the Treasury became increasingly anomalous and in the end unsustainable. Premiers would have to look elsewhere for the sort of support these aides had previously provided.


As career officials disengaged from the partisan interests and individual fates of prime ministers, a constitutional convention emerged that such involvement was inappropriate. This tendency could be undesirable for premiers, who might doubt the commitment of such staff. One episode from 1843 suggests that, even in its relatively tentative stages, the development of a permanent official staff could bring difficulties for prime ministers. In this year Charles Trevelyan, the Assistant Secretary to the Treasury, enraged the premier, Sir Robert Peel, after returning from a journey to Ireland. Trevelyan had briefed Peel and Sir James Graham, the Home Secretary, on his visit but included the same information he had imparted to them in a letter to a pro-opposition newspaper under a pseudonym. Peel learned what Trevelyan had done, and also that the Secretary had acted in the belief that his disclosure was in the interests of a higher good. The Prime Minister wrote to Graham expressing bemusement at the actions of the Treasury official. Peel found Trevelyan’s attitude beyond comprehension and concluded he ‘must be a consummate fool’.23


Francis Bonham (c.1785–1863)


While the permanent civil service was beginning to develop, there was still a need for prime-ministerial aides who could fulfil both administrative and partisan requirements. In particular, premiers had to maintain contact with mass parties, which they needed to achieve and retain power. During his premierships (1834–5; 1841–6) Peel benefitted from assistance in this area from Francis Bonham. The aide was neither a career official nor was he primarily a parliamentary politician. Hovering between different environments, he made himself indispensable to Peel, helping him with numerous decisions and tasks. His unusual position attracted attention and placed him in the political line of fire as proxy for the premier.


In his 1851 biography of Lord George Bentinck, Benjamin Disraeli referred to the ‘unseen management of [Peel’s] party’, describing the decisive contribution to its success from a man who possessed knowledge of human nature and opinions, was hardworking, well connected and resourceful, but ‘was spoken of only in a whisper and moved behind the scenes’. Without naming him, Disraeli was referring to Bonham. The aide was valuable to Peel partly because the premier was not enthusiastic about the idea of political parties. Bonham helped with work that, whatever Peel’s qualms, was essential. The nineteenth century saw the rise of the party as a defined, disciplined entity within Parliament and throughout the country. Here was another political force upon which prime ministers now depended. It required careful management, hence the value of Bonham being able to help with the task.


Bonham was another aide who first qualified as a lawyer and then served as a Tory MP from 1830 to 1831 and 1835 to 1837. He began his parliamentary career as assistant whip in 1831, and from 1832 to 1837 acted as the foremost election specialist for the Conservatives – though whether he ever formally held such a position is not clear. This latter job was not entirely new. Managers of parliamentary contests – sometimes working for prime ministers – were a feature of British politics before Bonham was born; the nature of his task was different. The Great Reform Act of 1832 meant a larger franchise, and registering voters became a crucial task. Bonham developed methods to meet the new challenge. Working mainly out of the Carlton Club (of which he was a founder member) Bonham accumulated a comprehensive body of information that helped facilitate the Conservative election victory of 1841. He combined this role with acting as a personal political adviser to Peel, keeping him informed about developments within the Conservative Party and beyond.


During both Peel premierships Bonham’s official post was Storekeeper to the Ordnance. It involved little work, leaving time for him to carry out party duties for Peel. Bonham was neither the first nor the last prime-ministerial aide with a misleading job title. In 1834, when he first appointed Bonham to the post, Peel explained he could not have accepted the post of Prime Minister without help from Bonham, whose office enabled him to provide that very assistance. Bonham was no longer an MP when Peel formed his second government yet he was reinstated to his previous post and advised on a wide range of issues in Peel’s longer – and more significant – second term. They included the construction of his government in 1841; choosing MPs to speak on particular occasions in the Commons; and appointing people to positions of power and prestige in the church and at universities. Bonham also helped handle the owners of newspapers. Politicians courted him, recognising his significance to Peel.


Bonham should be regarded as a partisan official – committed to and working for the Conservatives in general and Peel in particular, employed within the government as a consequence of their obtaining power, but not, after 1837, sitting in Parliament. In modern terms he was a provider of support rather than a minister. He is similar to later aides such as special advisers or the Prime Minister’s Political Secretary. Bonham did not relish speaking or receiving attention of any kind when he was an MP, and did not pursue a parliamentary career with vigour. Not being dragged into the daily business of an MP was an advantage, enabling him to take an overview of party concerns which he might not otherwise have possessed.


The unusual status of Bonham, along with his personal shortcomings, encouraged opponents of Peel to single him out as a target. In 1844 Mr Divett, a Whig MP who disliked Bonham, tried to force his removal, drawing attention to the disparity between his formal position and his actual activities. This move against Bonham was doomed since Divett could not even find a seconder for his motion. Next, Disraeli sought to oust Bonham; he claimed that the aide had participated in a subversive plot decades before. Disraeli’s accusation arose from a case of mistaken identity. Peel made a powerful defence and Disraeli was forced to withdraw the claim. But enemies of the government sensed that Bonham could be vulnerable. In June 1845 it emerged that, nine years previously, as an MP he had played an inappropriate part in seeking to influence the award of railway contracts. This time Bonham resigned, though Peel supported him in the Commons. Leaving office did not make a significant difference to his activities as an aide to the Prime Minister – he continued in his role for the remainder of the Peel premiership, and beyond.24


Prime ministers’ secretaries


A common feature of many political leaders through history and across different cultures is a reliance on one person or a small group of individuals in close physical, organisational, and often personal, proximity to them, helping with their day-to-day functions. In central government many individuals have the term ‘secretary’ in their job title. A number of them have been aides to premiers. Though possibly not as high powered as secretaries to the Treasury, the private secretaries to the Prime Minister have had a special role. They have operated in a highly confidential area where the political and the personal overlap, and have done so for an unbroken period longer than any other aide or group of aides to the premier.


The precise genesis of the role of private secretary to the Prime Minister is uncertain. Unlike his successors, Walpole did not have a private secretary attached to him in his capacity as First Lord of the Treasury. But debate exists about whether Henry Bilson-Legge supported him in his role as emergent Prime Minister. Legge, a son of the Earl of Dartmouth, met Walpole in 1733 through his friend Edward Walpole, son of the Prime Minister. Three years later Robert Walpole made Legge his private secretary in his capacity as Chancellor of the Exchequer. But Legge’s was largely a sinecure post and it does not follow necessarily that Legge consequently worked as an aide. In 1739 Walpole placed him as Chief Secretary to the Lord Lieutenant of Ireland; then in 1741 as the second Secretary to the Treasury.


From Pelham onwards it is possible to identify those individuals who might be termed a Prime Minister’s private secretary, usually serving the First Lord of the Treasury. Generally, secretaries were appointed by and left office with a particular premier. Originally it fell to prime ministers to provide for their own secretaries. In 1806 – perhaps prompted by the early death of Pitt the Younger, which appears to have been brought on in part by overwork – the Treasury introduced an allowance of £300 for a private secretary to the First Lord. The same provision was added in 1812, allowing premiers to take on a second such aide.25


Being a secretary to a senior politician meant more than merely carrying out functions such as writing, copying and filing – even though these tasks were part of the work required by premiers. The job entailed involvement in the confidential business of the employer. There was a relationship of trust and mutual dependence, sometimes lasting many years, between secretaries and prime ministers. The former discreetly performed delicate duties for the latter, and were well compensated for their work. This type of connection is illustrated by the career of possibly the first such secretary, John Roberts.


Roberts first began working for Henry Pelham as a tutor to his son and then became his private secretary. He provided support to Pelham as Prime Minister from 1743 until Pelham died in office in 1754. His tasks included helping oversee the distribution of Secret Service funds. As was usual in eighteenth-century politics, Pelham received generous financial compensation for his efforts in the form of appointments and payments. When Pelham died, his brother, the Duke of Newcastle, not only succeeded him as premier but took on Roberts as his secretary. Roberts supported Newcastle during the elections held in 1754 and 1761 and continued to be responsible for the Secret Service money until 1756. However, Roberts had difficulty establishing as strong a link with Newcastle as he had with Pelham.26


Private secretaries after Roberts continued to perform sensitive roles. Working for George Grenville as premier from April 1763, Charles Lloyd took responsibility for patronage. One task was to act as a go-between. Private secretaries helped premiers such as Lord Bute deal with much of their political work and conduct business that arose from their Treasury role. Lord North’s biographer records William Brummell helping organise for him a meeting with the leading opposition figure Charles James Fox, which was supposed to be revealed only to George III.27 In the following century, as private secretary to his father the Earl of Aberdeen, Arthur Gordon was a significant liaison with the Peelites. Evelyn Melbourne Ashley performed for Palmerston diplomatic and intelligence functions in an informal capacity. There were limits, however, to the amount of work that a single private secretary could or would be expected to take off the hands of the premier. In his biography of William Pitt the Younger, John Ehrman notes the restrictions on available help. As was normal at the time, Pitt the Younger was constrained by the expectation that he would carry out much of his own correspondence; while his private secretary could see less important people for him, he had to deal with the major business himself.28


Research by Sir John Sainty29 reveals the types of individuals who were private secretaries to prime ministers. Up to 1812, four were staff drawn from the Treasury and another was formally attached to the Treasury when recruited; three were clergy. Two were officials from the offices of the secretaries of state and three were MPs at the same time as supporting premiers. From 1812 the practice developed that one generally came from the Treasury and one from somewhere else. This pattern was not rigidly adhered to – for his final year in office neither of the two private secretaries supporting Lord Melbourne came from the Treasury; while from 1841 to 1846 – the duration of Robert Peel’s second premiership – both of his were. For at least some of his first term of 1846–52, Lord John Russell, who had three private secretaries, obtained two of them from the Treasury. As before 1812 some private secretaries were official staff but from parts of the government other than the Treasury. Two came from the Home Office and two from the Foreign Office. In the period 1812–68 seven private secretaries served jointly as MPs. Such an arrangement was more common for Whigs or Liberals – Earl Grey (1830–34), Lord Melbourne (1834, and 1835–41) and Palmerston (1855–58 and 1859–65) were each served by two aides with this dual role – while only Lord Derby (1852, 1858–59 and 1866–68) of the Conservatives had a solitary secretary who served in the Commons as well. There was a contingent from military backgrounds. The Earl of Derby was served by three soldiers during his time as Prime Minister. In part, the post of private secretary to the Prime Minister was an employment scheme for an assortment of family members, friends and out-of-wedlock offspring of premiers and their associates. There existed in the nineteenth century an extended family network from which aides to Whig and Liberal prime ministers were drawn.
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